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Equality, diversity, and good relations

Britain is an increasingly diverse place to live and our understanding of diversity is developing. This practice brief illustrates how equality, diversity, good relations and community cohesion impact on the housing sector.

This practice brief will look at different strands of diversity. It will explain:

1. why these are important issues for people working in housing

2. demonstrate how discrimination can occur in a housing context

3. show examples of innovative practice

4. provide a practice check-list of where your organisation should be in relation to the different strands of diversity.

The seven strands of diversity are:

• age

• disability

• gender

• race

• religion of belief

• sexual orientation

• transgender.

In addition to the seven strands of diversity, this practice brief will look at human rights which are incorporated into the law. These protect the rights and freedoms of staff and customers which may not be covered by specific discrimination legislation. 
This practice brief also contains a list of words often used when people talk about equality and diversity and provides a list of books, websites and other resources which will help you.

Why are equality, diversity and good relations important for housing?

Housing plays an absolutely fundamental role in everyone’s life. Our homes and the communities in which they are located directly influence our access to critical opportunities such as employment and education and our ability to participate in the social and economic life of the community. These factors determine our basic sense of belonging and our feelings of health and wellbeing. 
Equality, diversity and good relations are important because: 

• being aware of and proactive about the diversity of customers will ensure that housing organisations are able to provide the right services and meet the right needs

• embracing diversity helps housing organisations recruit the best talent available

• housing organisations have to comply with the law on equality and diversity issues and meet the demands of social housing regulators

• a positive approach to diversity will promote understanding and good relations between people who have different backgrounds and experiences, and this enhances the quality of life in local areas.

Community cohesion and good relations

A proactive approach to equality and diversity will contribute to community cohesion and good relations. Promoting community cohesion enables different groups of people within the community to get on well together.

Communities and Local Government (CLG) suggests that integrated and cohesive communities are based on three foundations:

• people from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities

• people knowing their rights and responsibilities

• people trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly.

These three foundations enable communities to build:

• a shared future vision and sense of belonging

• a focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity

• strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds.1

1 CLG (2008) The Government’s Response to the Commission on Integration and Cohesion

Housing and human rights

Human rights are the basic rights and freedoms that belong to every person in the world. Human rights are based on core principles of dignity, fairness, equality, respect and autonomy.

Britain is a signatory to the European Convention on Human Rights, which gives people protection for a range of human rights,

several of which are relevant to housing providers. The Human Rights Act 1998 enables individuals and organisations to invoke

Convention rights in the UK courts for certain purposes and limited effects. It applies to public bodies in the UK including local authorities and ALMOs; but it is good practice for housing

associations to adhere to the Human Rights Act. 
Four Articles in the European Convention on Human Rights in particular are of direct relevance to housing organisations: 
• Article 6: the right to a fair hearing in connection with civil rights and obligations and minimum rights for criminal trials

• Article 8: the right to respect for private and family life, the home and correspondence

• Article 14: prohibition of discrimination

• Protocol 1, Article 1: protection of property.2
2 O’Carroll D and Lister S (2000) A Guide to the Human Rights Act for Housing Professionals, CIH

Equality schemes

Public authorities have specific statutory duties to develop and publish equality schemes for gender, race and disability demonstrating how they will go about delivering their statutory duties and employment duties. This also applies to a number of bodies that have housing responsibilities, including local authorities, government agencies such as the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and the Tenant Services Authority (TSA), the Scottish Government and the Welsh Assembly Government. If a listed public body has a contract or other arrangement with a private company or a voluntary organisation

to carry out any of its functions, and the duty applies to those functions, the public body is responsible for meeting the duty

concerning those functions. This includes housing associations and Arms Length Management Organisations (ALMOs). 
New equality legislation for 2009 
In 2009 there will be a new Equality Bill bringing together different strands of diversity within one piece of legislation. When it is passed through parliament, the Equality Act will cover England, Wales and Scotland. It is widely expected that the legislation will:

• reduce the nine major pieces of legislation relating to equality, and around 100 statutory instruments into a single act with the aim of making the law more accessible and easier to understand

• increase transparency in the workplace with a requirement for public bodies to monitor progress across the different strands of diversity

• introduce a single equality duty, which will require public bodies to plan for the diverse needs of their workforce and the

communities they serve

• make further regulations outlawing unjustifiable age discrimination by those providing goods, facilities and services

• take steps to strengthen enforcement, for example, by allowing tribunals to make wider recommendations in discrimination cases

• enable employers to take positive action in relation to the recruitment of under represented groups when selecting

between equally qualified candidates.3 

3 www.commonsleader.gov.uk

Comprehensive Area Assessments and equality and diversity

The new Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) will specifically test outcomes of 'how well inequality is being addressed'. Local authorities and partners will be required to show that they know their communities. They will need to be aware of local community profiles and identify key ‘equality gaps’ experienced by different

communities.

Chartered Institute of Housing and equality and diversity

CIH is committed to playing a leadership role in creating a more diverse housing workforce. 56 per cent of CIH members are women and 14 per cent of UK members have black, and minority ethnic backgrounds. 
CIH is now developing new programmes of work in the areas of disability, age, sexual orientation and religion or belief. Some current highlights include:

• developing a Positive Action for Disability trainee scheme for England and Wales to develop skills and drive forward employment opportunities for disabled people in housing and communities

www.cih.org/careers/positiveaction

• achieving listing as a Stonewall Diversity Champion in 2008 with a commitment to promote lesbian, gay and bisexual equality in the workplace across the housing and communities sector

www.cih.org/news/view.php?id=994

• working with Housing Associations Charitable Trust (hact) on the Opening Doors project to improve housing association services for refugees and migrants. This will be followed in 2009 by the Refugee Community Housing and Employment Project

www.cih.org/policy/openingdoors

• CIH equality and diversity publications and guides:

• A Guide to Engaging Muslim Communities

• Community Cohesion and Housing 

• Black and Minority Ethnic Housing Strategies

• Housing, Race and Community Cohesion

• A Guide to the Human Rights Act for Housing Professionals

• Providing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: Contentious Spaces

www.cih.org/publications

Equality and Human Rights Commission

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC), aims to narrow gaps in poverty, care, social mobility and opportunity, and in relation to power, inclusion and integration. It’s mandate is to promote equality, human rights and good relations. 
For the Commission the starting point is that equality means more than just the absence of legal discrimination. It is about the freedoms that people need in order to realise their potential: including participation, personal autonomy, dignity and self-respect.

Customer insight: understanding who you provide services to

In order to provide services that are representative of the diversity of your customer base, it is important to know who your customers are and what they want. This is known as customer insight. It combines a knowledge of demographic factors with information about customer’s behaviour, needs and aspirations. CIH has

published a good practice briefing called Customer Insight: Knowing Your Customers

www.cih.org/publications

Practice checklist: equality and diversity
In this practice brief we advise what housing organisations should be doing to promote equality and diversity across all seven strands. In addition, within each strand of diversity covered in this practice brief, we will identify specific measures which housing organisations should consider. 
Across all seven strands of diversity, housing organisations should:

review policies and procedures to make sure they take account of equality and diversity across all seven strands. Policies and procedures should clearly state that all people will be treated equally

conduct equality impact assessments to ensure that new policies and decisions promote equal opportunity for all and do not discriminate against any one group

make sure all policies, procedures, publicity and information are accessible to all staff and customers. Where appropriate, 

information should be available in accessible formats such as Braille or Read Aloud and should be translated into required formats

make sure all policies, procedures, publicity and information make use of inclusive language and images which are positive

about diversity

actively consider the potential barriers to customer involvement that may exist in the locality and employ a range of approaches to involvement

review and deliver training to all staff to incorporate the seven strands of diversity

make sure all training and staff development opportunities are equally available to all

ensure that suppliers subscribe to good practice on equality and diversity as part of a sustainable and inclusive procurement

strategy

review recruitment and employment policies and procedures to ensure they offer equal opportunities

engage with partner agencies at strategic and operational levels. A multi-agency approach can enable better planning and

co-ordination of services, making it easier for all customers to access the services they need

make use of clear, user-friendly and confidential systems to monitor diversity across all seven strands and in all areas of

activity: as an employer, a service provider and when procuring services

integrate equality and diversity into the core functions of the organisation

communicate the need for a positive approach to equality and diversity and highlight the benefits and the business case

internally and externally 

have a clearly understood data protection policy and data disclosure policy and ensure that confidential data is used only for the purposes for which it is collected

Age

Why is age important for housing?

Age discrimination occurs when someone is treated unfavourably because of their age without justification or is harassed because of

how old they are. The phrase ‘ageism’ is often used to refer to age discrimination. In 2004 the charity Age Concern found that 28 per cent of adults had experienced age discrimination, most under 25 or the 55-65 age group. 
Age is an issue for housing because:

• the population of the UK is aging. The UK Statistics Authority reports that the fastest growing age group in the population are

those aged 80 years and over who currently constitute 4.5 per cent (2,749,507) of the total population.4 Housing organisations will need to consider the housing and support needs of an aging population and plan for adequate service provision

• housing organisations are well-placed to encourage intergenerational mixing which may help alleviate the isolation of younger or older people. This promotes community cohesion and good relations within communities

• a recent report by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) found that young people experience increased risk and uncertainty as

they move into independent housing. Young people moving out of care or people with disabilities and gay and lesbian young people

often face particular challenges in moving to independent housing. In addition, lower rates of housing benefit for people under 18 limit

their housing choices.5
4 Statistics Authority 2007: www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk

5 Heath, S (2008) Housing Choices and Issues for Young People in the UK, JRF Yorkra
Discrimination on the grounds of age and how to respond

An employer decides not to offer a housing assistant job to a 21 year old man despite the fact he has the qualifications, skills and

attributes to undertake the job, simply because ‘he is very young and won’t fit in with older colleagues’.

Response: ensure staff involved in recruitment and appointment do not discriminate on the basis of age. Ensure staff are adequately trained in age discrimination awareness and that

policies and procedures clearly refer to age equality. 
A housing organisation concentrates its communication efforts on website development because it sees this is where the tenants of the future will interact with the organisation. It doesn’t consider the

implications of this on tenants who do not have IT skills, many of whom are older people.

Response: ensure communication is in different formats and consult with older tenants about how they want to be involved. Consider offering training and development opportunities for

tenants and residents to develop their skills regardless of age.
Innovative Practice
• Hanover Housing Association provides housing and support services for 850 people of pensionable age in the London Borough of Hackney. Residents taking part in their environmental project visited a local secondary school to talk with younger people about dealing with future environmental problems. The younger people also visited one of the Hanover schemes. The exchange helped to break down barriers between the two groups and is a practical example of intergenerational mixing.

• Charter Housing Association run a project called the Dream Scheme. This project recognises the positive influence that young people can make to their communities. In exchange for working in the community young people earn points which they then save up and swap for trips of their choice, such as rock climbing and visits to adventure parks. Other benefits for young people include having fun, learning new things and meeting new people.

Practice checklist: age and housing

make sure all staff recruitment policies and procedures do not discriminate against candidates on the basis of age

make sure all publicity and information material produced by your organisation uses inclusive language and images which are positive about age

 include age discrimination issues in all staff training on equality and diversity 

Disability

Why is disability important for housing?

Latest Labour Force Survey figures (2007) show nearly one in five people of working age (6.9 million or 19 per cent) in Great Britain

are disabled. Not all disability is obvious and not all disability is physical. Only 4 per cent of disabled people use a wheelchair.

Some disabilities develop over a lifetime and not all disabilities affect people all of the time. 
Disabled people face a number of barriers in relation to housing:

• nine out of ten families which include a disabled child are likely to experience problems with their housing (Prime Minister's Strategy Unit, 2005)

• 28.6 per cent of disabled households live in homes that fall below accepted standards of decency compared to 25.9 per cent of nondisabled households (English House Condition Survey 2005).

Discrimination on the grounds of disability and how to respond

A deaf British Sign Language (BSL) user moves to a flat on an estate. The male tenant is black and his neighbours are predominantly white. The landlord does not make any reasonable

adjustments under the Disability Discrimination Act when he is given his tenancy such as a qualified and registered Sign Language Interpreter (SLI) and his level of literacy is low. Neighbours make serial complaints to the police and to the landlord that the man is causing a noise nuisance and that he is

‘aggressive’ and ‘intimidating’ when approached. Neither the police nor the landlord provides an SLI for interviewing the deaf tenant. The landlord begins eviction proceedings because of anti-social behaviour.

Response: this example crosses diversity strands because it involves race and disability. The landlord should ensure it communicates with the tenant through means appropriate to

his needs. It should also be aware of the needs black and minority ethnic (BME) groups may face in a predominantly white area and work with tenants and residents to challenge stereotyping and promote good relations.
A Choice Based Lettings (CBL) scheme is not accessible to people with disabilities. A person with a visual impairment finds that information available through Read Aloud on the housing organisation’s website is not sufficiently informative. The housing

organisation also has a lack of adapted properties in their CBL scheme which denies disabled people real choice.

Response: ensure information is available in a range of formats for disabled people. Consider setting up Accessible Housing Registers (AHRs) and incorporating them into a CBL scheme. Empower disabled tenants so they can advise on issues of accessibility and ensure that services are relevant.

Innovative Practice

• Foundation for Living is a landmark project by the Papworth Trust which supports independent living for disabled people. It shows how mainstream housing services can be developed to be fully inclusive of disabled people. The scheme includes 24 affordable

rented wheelchair accessible flats, 22 private flats and the Saxongate Community Learning Centre which is a fully accessible

space including local businesses, a college and a space for community groups.

• Homeseekers is a new lettings scheme for local authority and housing association properties in Tower Hamlets. All homes that

have undergone an access survey are included on the AHR, and categorised according to the London AHR categories:

• Category A - Wheelchair Accessible

• Category B - Partially Wheelchair Accessible

• Category C - Lifetime Homes

• Category D - Easy Access

• Category E - Step Free

• Category F - General Housing

• Category G - Home not yet assessed.

Practice Checklist: disability and housing

have an up-to-date Disability Equality Scheme which is monitored for effectiveness

engage with partner agencies at strategic and operational levels. A multi-agency approach can enable better planning and

co-ordination of services, making it easier for residents to access the services they need

undertake positive action for disability to address inequalities in the labour market

ensure points of customer access are accessible for people with disabilities: for example, wheelchair access, impairment

hearing loops and visual aids. Train staff to use them

be creative and proactive in designing, implementing and reviewing disability equality action plans and impact assessments; and implement, monitor and act on the results

Practice checklist:

Lifetime Homes 

Lifetime Homes Standards (LHS) incorporate16 design standards that apply to homes and require that homes are designed to be both accessible and adaptable to the changing needs of people at different stages of their lives. In 2008, the government announced that all new-build social housing in England should be built to LHS by 2011 with a voluntary arrangement for private sector homes to be built to LHS by 2013.

Gender

Why is gender important for housing?

In 2007 there were 31.1 million women and 29.9 million men in the UK. There is a difference between sex and gender. Sex refers to

the physical differences between men and women. Gender refers to the different social or cultural roles attached to being a man or a

woman.

Discrimination impacts negatively and results in unequal outcomes for men and women. Women are under-represented in senior management and leadership roles and men are underrepresented

in administrative and health and social care roles. In 2006, men were more likely than women to own their home, with women

being more likely to rent their homes from the social sector and to be accepted as homeless.6

6 National Statistics 2008 www.statistics.gov.uk

Discrimination on the grounds of gender and how to respond

An organisation which has long working hours and negative attitudes towards maternity, paternity and pregnancy may be indirectly discriminating on the grounds of gender because a higher proportion of women have caring responsibilities than men. Response: challenge working practices which indirectly discriminate against people who have family or caring responsibilities.

In planning and designing a new scheme a housing organisation fails to consult women on their preferences and needs e.g. regarding street lighting, the height and size of street furniture, open versus closed spaces and alleyways. The requirements of Muslim women and disabled women are also overlooked. Response: when planning and designing housing, use resources such as the Women’s Design Service www.wds.org.uk or Gender Site www.gendersite.org and make sure consultation is accessible to and actively includes people of different genders. 

A housing organisation provides domestic violence services for women but does not differentiate these services for men or women or lesbian or gay victims of domestic violence also. 
Response: when planning domestic violence services ensure consideration is given to the different needs of men and women escaping domestic violence.

Innovative Practice

• Stonham Housing Association in Worcester has established a dedicated service for male victims of domestic violence, with safe

housing in the form of five one-bedroom flats and two dedicated male support workers.

• Fusion21 is a unique joint procurement partnership, formed in 2002, of seven Merseyside housing associations including

Knowsley Housing Trust (KHT). It is undertaking pioneering work in encouraging and recruiting women into the construction industry. Sara Kilgannon is one of 5 female construction apprentices taken on by KHT. Sara is pro-active in spreading a positive message to others. Sara has spoken at national conferences talking about her positive experiences and KHT have made a film about a day in her life to encourage other women into the construction industry. Sara has been shortlisted for an

award at the 2009 Women In Construction Awards.

Practice Checklist: gender and housing

have an up-to-date Gender Equality Scheme which is monitored for effectiveness

raise awareness of gender issues and gender stereotyping amongst residents and staff

set challenging and realistic gender equality goals and objectives and consult and involve stakeholders in the process

be creative and proactive in designing, implementing and reviewing gender equality action plans and impact assessments and implement, monitor and act on the results

promote positive action and work with a range of partners to achieve it

Race
Why is race important for housing?

Currently, 67 per cent of the nearly five million people from minority ethnic backgrounds live in the 88 most deprived

wards in England.7 BME people are more likely to live in social housing. Whatever their tenure, they are also more likely to suffer bad housing conditions such as overcrowding. 

7 Cabinet Office (2001) Improving Labour Market Achievements for Ethnic Minorities in British Society, Cabinet Office, London

Discrimination on the grounds of race and how to respond

A social landlord introduces a CBL scheme without ensuring it is understood by and accessible to all ethnic groups in the area. The social landlord may also fail to translate online and paper-based information into a range of local community languages, which reflect the make-up of tenants. This may lead to minority groups making disproportionately low use of the scheme. 
Response: investigate barriers to participation in the scheme (e.g. language, access to computers, unfamiliar forms) and find ways to overcome them. Provide resources for translation and training. Undertake an equality impact assessment. 

A BME family has moved into a traditionally white neighbourhood. They experience verbal abuse from some of their neighbours. The family does not report the incident to their landlord initially because they cannot clearly identify the perpetrators. They are also anxious about causing ‘trouble’ by reporting the incident. Once reported the

landlord does not immediately identify this as a ‘hate crime’ and tells the family ‘this is a rough estate’. The family feel harassed and intimidated and requests a transfer. The landlord does not treat the request as a high priority.

Response: the landlord should have robust tenancy support mechanisms for the new tenants including a welcome pack with a clear statement on ‘hate crime’. It should proactively encourage the reporting of all incidents perceived to be racist and should monitor all reported incidents. It should ensure all tenants

are aware of the landlord’s zero-tolerance approach to racism and ensure racial harassment is a ground for eviction in tenancy

agreements. The landlord should take positive action in support of the new tenants e.g. introducing them to their neighbours. It should

also work with tenants’ associations and local community groups to develop community cohesion.

Innovative Practice

• First Choice Homes Oldham has a tenancy support service which supports new tenants moving to unfamiliar areas. While applying to any new tenant, it has successfully helped BME households move to areas where they might not otherwise have felt welcome. The organisation also produces a ‘race and hate crime information pack’ for tenants which clearly states the action the organisation will take in response to racially motivated incidents and ‘hate crime’.

• Ashram Housing Association in Birmingham won a gold award from the Housing Corporation in 2008 for its ‘Bend it like Birmingham’ resident-led project building community cohesion and fostering social inclusion. The project engages young Muslims in the wider community through football and helps break down the barriers between communities.

Practice Checklist: race and housing

have an up-to-date Race Equality Scheme which is monitored for effectiveness

be aware of new ethnic groups within the area and investigate and respond to service needs

strive to have a workforce which reflects the ethnic mix of the customer base and the areas served

build positive relationships with BME organisations

be creative and proactive in designing, implementing and reviewing race equality action plans and impact assessments and

implement, monitor and act on the results

consider the needs of more diverse BME communities, especially hidden or emerging migrant communities

promote positive action

Religion or belief

Why is religion or belief important for housing?

The Equality Act 2006 defines religion as serious and cohesive belief compatible with human dignity. ‘Belief’ relates to philosophical beliefs such as humanism or pacifism but not to other sorts of belief such as supporting a political party. Having an understanding of religious or other beliefs is important for

housing because:

• religious or other beliefs influence preferences and behaviours, such as negotiating relationships between men and women, washing requirements and facilities, and dietary needs. It is important for housing organisations to be sensitive to these in order to provide culturally appropriate services

• disagreements over religious or other beliefs can potentially cause conflict in the community and damage good relations.

Discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief and how to respond

A facility for residents is open only one day per week. The landlord avoids Sunday, but chooses Saturday, which makes it unusable by some residents because of their religion. 
Response: collect information from tenants not just on ethnicity but on religion and belief, so that the landlord is more fully aware of tenants’ needs when making decisions such as this one.

A 70-year old man with learning disabilities moves into sheltered housing. The man is a practising Muslim and has no surviving family able to support him to live independently. Due to his disability and care requirements, staff need to provide regular assistance with dressing and washing him, plus cooking and

shopping. Care staff at the sheltered housing scheme ignore the man's requests for halal meat and getting up at certain times of the day to follow his religious practices. The man is unable to practice his faith and becomes increasingly isolated and depressed. Response: the organisation should provide culturally appropriate services and enable the man to fulfil his religious practices. 
Innovative Practice

• Portsmouth City Council has a 140 page ring-bound guide to minority cultures and faiths in Portsmouth called One City, Many

Cultures… The ‘faiths’ section covers Islam and other religions, while the ‘communities’ section covers all the various groups living

in Portsmouth.

• North London Muslim Housing Association has a deliberate strategy of creating partnerships in order to promote the integration of Muslim tenants and achieve more cohesive communities. Some of its activities have included:

• establishing the organisation Faith in the Future Ltd which has a wide remit for ‘housing plus’ work

• undertaking research for Kensington and Chelsea about the needs of Muslim communities in the borough 
• working with other housing organisations in the areas where it has stock to promote inter-community contact (including between Muslim and Jewish communities)

• holding an exchange with a church in a rural village to improve awareness of Muslim communities in a place which might have little contact with them.

Practice Checklist: religion or belief and housing

treat discrimination on grounds of religion or faith as seriously as you do racial discrimination

be aware of the needs of staff of different religions and beliefs in the workplace. For example, appointments or meetings should be sensitive where possible to avoid days of religious significance and be sensitive to dietary or dress requirements of customers and staff

audit services to ensure they are culturally appropriate which will enhance customer satisfaction and promote wider good relations

in making plans for new housing or regeneration, consider religion and belief as factors to take into account, for example, in house design
Sexual orientation

Why is sexual orientation important for housing?

Sexual orientation is a combination of emotional, romantic, sexual or affectionate attraction to another person. It is not the same as sex or gender. Some people have a sexual orientation towards people of the same sex. Stonewall estimates that 5-7 per cent of the population are lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB). Over the past forty years public attitudes have changed towards sexual orientation, however, lesbian, gay and bisexual people still experience harassment and discrimination in many areas of life.

In 2007 Stonewall commissioned a poll which revealed 20 per cent of LGB people expected to be treated less favourably than a straight person when applying for social housing and 20 per cent of LGB people had experienced homophobic bullying in the workplace in the previous five years. In addition 20 per cent of LGB people have been the victim of one or more ‘hate crimes’ in the past three years.8 
A 2005 Stonewall Housing and Shelter publication9 showed sexuality is an issue for housing because:

• sexual orientation may be the issue when some young people present themselves as homeless if they have been thrown out of

their family home because they are gay, lesbian or bisexual

• LGB people may experience homophobic harassment or ‘hate crime’ from their neighbours which may motivate them to

request a transfer or not to want to live in certain neighbourhoods.

8 Hunt R and Dick S (2007) ‘Serves You Right’ Lesbian and Gay People’s Expectations of Discrimination, Stonewall

9 Stonewall Housing/ Shelter (2005) Meeting the Needs of  Homeless Lesbian and Gay Youth, Shelter

Discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation and how to respond

Before a woman began working in a predominantly male housing maintenance team, rumours were spread that ‘a dyke was coming’. On arrival she was subject to sexual innuendo and questions about her ‘love life’ from fellow staff. 

Response: policies should clearly define homophobic harassment and state a zero tolerance approach. Staff should be trained to

be aware of LGB equality. 

A resident in a sheltered housing scheme refuses support services from a gay member of staff because he is ‘queer’.

Response: when dealing with customers housing organisations should make clear their commitment to LGB equality and should

support staff if they are discriminated against by service users.

Innovative Practice

• Stonewall's Diversity Champions programme is Britain's good practice forum in which employers can work with Stonewall, and each other, to promote lesbian, gay and bisexual equality in the workplace. A number of housing organisations are among the top

100 Stonewall Diversity Champions including Gentoo, Metropolitan Housing Partnership, Knowsley Housing Trust and Berneslai Homes. 

www.stonewall.org.uk/workplace
• Gentoo Housing Group provide all staff with a copy of the Diversity Matters series of handbooks. One handbook specifically covers sexual orientation and is designed to raise awareness of sexual orientation in the workplace and in the context of local

housing service provision.

• Manchester City Council reviews its HR policies in consultation with lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) employees

to make sure they are inclusive of LGBT staff.

Practice Checklist: sexual orientation and housing

be sensitive around lettings policies to ensure LGB people feel safe in their homes and neighbourhoods

respond quickly to incidences of harassment on the grounds of sexual orientation and provide remedial options e.g. transfer options

create a safe environment at work and with service providers so LGB people feel comfortable about ‘coming out’ if they want

do, but also feel as though they do not have to discuss their sexual orientation at work: no one should have to answer a question about their sexual orientation if they do not want to

monitor sexual orientation in the workplace and in the provision of housing and housing related services

make links with national LGB organisations such as Stonewall and local groups offering support to LGB people

strictly maintain confidentiality around a person’s sexual

orientation

Transgender

Why is transgender important for housing?

The word transgender is an umbrella term used to describe people whose gender identity or expression differs from their birth sex. The term may sometimes include transsexual which refers to a person who wants to or who has already changed their physical sex from the one which they were born with.

Transgender is not a sexual orientation and it is not the same as transvestism. The term trans is a generic term generally used by those who identify themselves as transgender, transsexual

or transvestite.

The Gender Trust estimates between 1 in 4000 and 1 in 10,000 people are actually transsexual. Many transgender people can identify as female-to-male (FtM) or male-to-female (MtF). 

Transgender people may or may not choose to alter their bodies hormonally and/or surgically. Some people have not, and do not intend to, undergo gender reassignment. 

Being aware of the needs of transgender people is an issue for housing because:

• trans people experience a lot of social stigma and discrimination. They may be vulnerable to harassment and ‘hate crime’ in their

communities

• housing workers need to be aware of how to provide appropriate treatment and services to transgender people.

Discrimination on the grounds of transgender and how to respond

A transgender woman who is a customer of a housing organisation wishes to make use of toilet facilities at a housing office. However,

fellow customers object to her using female toilet facilities. A member of staff says she should use the male toilet facilities or the

wheelchair access facilities. 

Response: always allow transgender people access to single sex facilities which reflect their acquired gender identity.

A 70-year-old woman moves into sheltered housing and she is in the early stages of Alzheimers. The woman underwent gender

reassignment surgery 20 years previously and has lived and worked as a woman ever since. Her needs as a transgender person are inadequately assessed by her housing provider.

Paperwork identifies her under her previous male gender. Her social worker does not document any of the woman's wishes to be

supported by female care staff when personal care is provided. The woman's transgender identity is discussed openly by staff and in the presence of other residents and visitors. The woman is very distressed by this and it is attributed to her ‘age’ by staff. Response: providers of housing and care should be sensitive to the requests of transgender customers and provide appropriate services which reflect their acquired gender identity. The strictest confidence should be maintained. Staff should be trained to behave in a sensitive way with transgender people.

Innovative Practice

• The Broken Rainbow lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) domestic violence helpline provides an opportunity for LGBT people experiencing domestic violence to talk to trained staff who can provide a confidential listening, information and signposting service.
• Boston Borough Council actively encourages representation from a local transgender support group called the Boston Belles. Group representatives sit on the local LGBT Forum, the Boston Area Partnership, the Diversity and Equality Theme Group and the

Independent Police Advisory Group. This enables the views of this group to be heard in areas applicable to transgender members

of the community.

Practice Checklist: transgender and housing

consider monitoring your staff and service users on gender identity, taking into account advice and research published by

organisations such as the Gender Trust and the EHRC

make links with organisations such as the Gender Trust or Press for Change and local groups offering support to transgender people

strictly maintain confidentiality around a person’s transgender status

have a clearly understood data protection policy and data disclosure policy and adhere to the privacy provisions in the

Gender Recognition Act 2004

A summary of existing equality legislation

• Race Relations Act 1965: First piece of anti-discrimination legislation in Britain. Outlawed racial discrimination.

• Equal Pay Act 1970: Gives men and women equal treatment in contractual terms and conditions of employment when they are

employed on the same or broadly similar work, or on work which, although different, is of equal value.

• Sex Discrimination Act 1975: Outlaws discrimination on the grounds of gender. It also outlaws discrimination against married

people in the field of employment.

• Race Relations Act 1976: Outlaws racial discrimination, direct or indirect, in employment, education, the provision of goods, facilities and services and the disposal and management of premises in England, Scotland and Wales.

• Disability Discrimination Act 1995: Outlaws discrimination against disabled people in employment and in the provision

of services. It also specifically outlaws discrimination in the disposal and management of premises.

• Human Rights Act 1998: Contains a number of articles with particular relevance for the way that housing organisations handle diversity and equality of opportunity issues, including the avoidance of discrimination and the upholding of rights regarding respect for the home and possessions.

• Sex Discrimination (Gender Reassignment) Regulations 1999: A measure to prevent discrimination against transsexual people on the grounds of sex in employment and vocational training.

• Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000: Extends the application of the Race Relations Act 1976 to the police and other public authorities and strengthens the duty placed on local authorities and other public bodies to carry out their functions having due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful racial

discrimination and promote equality of opportunity and good race relations.

• Disability Discrimination Act 2005: Introduces a new duty for local authorities and other public bodies to carry out their functions in a way that eliminates discrimination and promotes equality of

opportunity for disabled people and imposes a duty on those who manage let dwellings to make reasonable adjustments and widens

the definition of disability.

• Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003: Makes it unlawful to discriminate on the grounds of religion or belief. The regulations apply to vocational training and all facets

of the employment relationship.

• Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003: Makes it unlawful to discriminate on the grounds of sexual orientation. The regulations apply to vocational training and all facets of the employment relationship.

• Civil Partnership Act 2004: Gives same-sex couples the right to register a civil partnership, which means that the partnership is legally recognised. They have similar rights as a married couple in such areas as tax, inheritance and benefits.

• Gender Recognition Act 2004: Gives transsexual people the right to apply for a Gender Recognition Certificate. This means

for all intents and purposes, the holder is legally recognised in their acquired gender. Transsexual people can apply for a Gender

Recognition Certificate if they have had a medical diagnosis of being transsexual, have been living full time in their acquired gender for a number of years and intend to remain permanently in that gender.

• The Equality Act 2006: Places a statutory duty on all public authorities, when carrying out their functions, to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment and to promote equality of opportunity between men and women.

• Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006: Outlaws discrimination on the grounds of a person’s age in employment and vocational training.

• The Racial and Religious Hatred Act 2006: Creates a new criminal offence of stirring up hatred against a person because

of their religion.

Specific Scottish legislation on equality

• Schedule 5 of the Scotland Act 1998 imposes a duty on local authorities to promote equal opportunities.

• Equal opportunities are defined as ‘the prevention, elimination or regulation of discrimination between persons on grounds of sex or marital status, on racial grounds or on grounds of disability, age, sexual orientation, language and social origin, or of other personal attributes, including beliefs or opinions, such as religious beliefs

or political opinions’.
• Section 106 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 extends this duty to housing associations.

• Section 140 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc (Scotland) Act 2004 states that in discharging any of the functions of the Act, a person must do so in a way that encourages equal opportunities and observes any equal opportunity requirements. The definitions of equal opportunities stated in the Scotland Act 1998 apply.

Specific Welsh legislation on equality

• Welsh Language Act 1993: Public bodies in Wales have a statutory duty to prepare a scheme specifying measures it will take in the conduct of their business to treat the English and Welsh languages equally. Local authorities and housing associations are

covered by the Act.

• Section 120 of the Government of Wales Act 1998 states that the Welsh Assembly shall make appropriate arrangements with a view to securing that its functions are exercised with due regard to the principle that there should be equality of opportunity for all people. The Assembly seeks to pass on these responsibilities to local authorities and housing associations through its regulatory functions.

Understanding words and phrases

Assistive technology 
A range of technology, mainly electronic which is used to monitor or enable people. It can also be used to eliminate risks in the home: for example by falling. 

Community cohesion

The active involvement and development of diverse communities as part of neighbourhood renewal initiatives. 

Disability Equality Duty

This legal duty requires all public bodies to actively look at ways of ensuring that disabled people are treated equally. It came into force in December 2006.

Disability Equality Scheme

A framework or strategy to assist public authorities to plan, deliver, evaluate and report on their services to meet the requirements of

the Disability Equality Duty.

Discrimination

Making a positive or negative judgement about someone based on bias, assumptions or prejudice. Discrimination can either be direct

or indirect: Direct discrimination: When you treat someone unfairly or differently just because they belong to a particular group of people. For example, if an employer refuses to employ someone just because they are a woman. Indirect discrimination: When you treat someone the same way as everyone else but, doing this disadvantages more people from one group than other groups.

Diversity

An appreciation that each individual is unique giving recognition to individual differences. For example, age, race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, disability, religion or belief. An appreciation of diversity moves beyond simple tolerance to embracing and celebrating diversity as beneficial for communities, wider society and the economy.

Equal opportunity

Not excluding individuals from the activities of the society in which they live: for example, employment, education and health care. This also includes positive action and capacity building. Simply removing barriers does not always provide equal opportunities.

Gender

The different social or cultural roles attached to being a man or a woman. 

Gender dysphoria

Anxiety, uncertainty or persistently uncomfortable feelings experienced by an individual about their assigned gender which is in conflict with their gender identity.

Gender Equality Duty

A legal obligation which came into force in April 2007. It places the legal responsibility on public sector organisations, authorities and institutions to promote equality between men and women and eliminate unlawful sex discrimination. They must also demonstrate that they actively promote equality between men and women.

Gender Equality Scheme

Public bodies have a duty to publish a gender equality scheme showing how the public authority will meet its general and specific duties, and setting out its gender equality objectives.

Genuine Occupational Requirement

In some circumstances exceptions to the law regarding  discrimination are possible in cases where someone’s gender, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation or age is genuinely

needed for them to be able to carry out their duties. This is called a genuine occupational requirement. It is the responsibility of the

employer to clearly demonstrate that the characteristic concerned is a genuine requirement for the job, crucial to the job’s performance, and that it is proportionate to apply the requirement in the case in question.

Glass ceiling

A phrase used to describe the barriers which people feel are in place which prevent women and other minority groups from being

promoted. The phrase ‘double-glazed glass ceiling’ is sometimes used to refer to barriers which exist for lesbians.

Harassment

Attention or behaviour by an individual or a group which is unwanted by the person or group against whom it is directed. For example, touching a colleague, sexist or explicit jokes or making personal comments about someone’s appearance or personal life.

Homophobia

An irrational fear of, or prejudice and discrimination against gay men, bisexuals and lesbians.

Independent Living

Independent living aims at empowering people with a disability to live in their own homes with support.

Institutional Racism

The failure to provide at an organisational or institutional level an appropriate and professional service to people because of their

colour, culture or ethnic origin. 

Islamaphobia

An irrational fear of, or prejudice and discrimination against Islam and Muslims.

Lifetime Homes Standard

These standards incorporate16 design standards that apply to homes and require that homes are designed to be both accessible and adaptable to the changing needs of people at different stages of their lives. In 2008, the government announced that all new-build social housing in England should be built to LHS by 2011 with a voluntary arrangement for private sector homes to be built to LHS by 2013.

Medical model of disability

This model of disability seeks to explain disability by focusing on the disabled person’s impairment: seeing it as a 'problem' that requires diagnosis and medical treatment.

Positive Action

Lawful measures used by an organisation to address under representation of particular groups. For example, schemes to encourage more women to work in building and construction.

Prejudice

Where a view about someone is based on a lack of knowledge, a pre-conceived idea or on social pressure. 

Race Equality Duty

In 2001, the Race Relations Act was amended to give public authorities a new statutory duty to promote race equality. The aim is to help public authorities to provide fair and accessible services, and to improve equal opportunities in employment. 

Race Equality Scheme

A framework or strategy to assist public authorities to plan, deliver, evaluate and report on their services to meet the requirements of

the Race Equality Duty. 

Sexism

Attitudes or actions which discriminate against women and men purely on the grounds of their sex or gender.

Sexual orientation

A combination of emotional, romantic, sexual or affectionate attraction to another person.

Social model of disability

This model of disability argues that the way in which society organises housing, access and services discriminates against disabled people. The social model recognises that society has a

responsibility to break down obstacles created by society and social attitudes towards disabled people.

Stereotypes

A generalised or one-sided view of an individual or a group based on limited impressions or pre-conceived ideas.

Trans

A short-hand term used by transgender people to describe being transgender. 

Transgender

An umbrella term used to describe people whose gender identity or expression differs from their birth sex.

Transphobia

The irrational fear, hatred, and discriminatory treatment of people who are transgender.

Victimisation

Situations where people are targeted with abuse, or experience less than equal treatment in their employment conditions.

Finding Out More

The Equalities Review, Fairness and Freedom: the Final Report of the Equalities Review

Cabinet Office (2007)

Towards a Fairer Future: Implementing the Women and Work Commission Recommendations

Communities and Local Government (2007)

Black and Minority Ethnic Housing Strategies: A Good Practice Guide

CIH (2000)

Community Cohesion and Housing: A Good Practice Guide
CIH (2004)

Housing, Race and Community Cohesion

CIH (2005)

Sheltered and Retirement Housing: A Good Practice Guide

CIH (2005)

Housing and Support Services for Asylum Seekers, Refugees and other New Migrants

CIH (2005)

Providing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: Contentious Places

CIH (2007)

Housing Aspirations for a New Generation: Perspectives from White and South Asian Women

CIH (2008)

A Guide to Engaging Muslim Communities

CIH (2008)

Customer Insight: Knowing Your Customers, Good Practice Briefing 32

CIH (2008)

Statutory Code of Practice on Racial Equality in Housing

Commission for Racial Equality (2005)

Who Are We and What We Do

EHRC (2008)

Ours To Own: Understanding Human Rights

EHRC (2008)

Sex and Power: Scotland 2008

EHRC (2008)

Planning for the Future: Part 8: the housing needs of Britain’s black and minority ethnic (BME) community

Housing Corporation (2008)

The Housing, Care and Support Needs of South Asian Elders

Housing Corporation (2008)

Single Equality Scheme 2008-9

Housing Corporation (2008)

Measuring Equality at a Local Level
LGA I&DeA (2008)

Framework for Review and Action on Equality and Diversity

National Housing Federation (2006)

Race Equality: a Framework for Review and Action

National Housing Federation and FBHO (2001)

How Equality Shapes Place: Diversity  and Localism

Solace Foundation (2008) 

Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Housing: A Good Practice Guide for Local Authorities and Housing Associations

Welsh Assembly Government (2004)

Websites

Age Concern

www.ageconcern.org.uk

Charity promoting the wellbeing of older people

Age Positive

www.agepositive.gov.uk

Charity promoting the inclusion of older workers in the workplace

Albert Kennedy Trust

www.akt.org.uk

Charity supporting lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans homeless young people

Capability Scotland

www.capability-scotland.org.uk

Charity working to ensure disabled people achieve equality

Census (General Register Office for Scotland)

www.gro-scotland.gov.uk/census

Homepage of the census in Scotland

Census (Northern Ireland Statistics & Research Agency)

www.nisranew.nisra.gov.uk/census

Homepage of the census in Northern Ireland

Chartered Institute of Housing

www.cih.org

The professional organisation for people working in housing and communities

Communities and Local Government

www.communities.gov.uk

Government department responsible for housing, communities, planning and regeneration

Deafblind UK

www.deafblind.org.uk

Charity offering specialist support to deafblind people and people with acquired progressive sight and hearing loss

Directgov: Disabled People

www.disability.gov.uk

The government’s public services website including details of services and support for people with disabilities

Disability Wales

www.disabilitywales.org

Membership organisation for disability groups across Wales

Equality and Human Rights Commission

www.equalityhumanrights.com

Commission working to eliminate discrimination and reduce inequality

Equality Britain

www.equalitybritain.co.uk

Promoting opportunities for everyone regardless of race, age, disability, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender or transgender status

Foyer Federation

www.foyer.net

Organisation representing and promoting foyers across the UK

Gender Advisory Bureau

www.genderadvisorybureau.com

Charity providing training courses on transgender awareness

Gender and the Built Environment Database

www.gendersite.org

Searchable database of resources for gender and the built environment

Government Equalities Office

www.equalities.gov.uk

Government department responsible for equalities legislation in the UK

Housing Associations’ Charitable Trust

www.hact.org.uk

Pioneering practical housing solutions for social inclusion

Institute of Race Relations

www.irr.org.uk

Organisation at the forefront of research and analysis informing the struggle for racial justice in Britain 
National AIDS Trust

www.nat.org.uk

UK’s leading charity raising awareness about HIV and AIDS 

Press for Change

www.pfc.org.uk

Political lobbying and educational organisation which campaigns to achieve respect and equality for all trans people 

Respect: Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour

www.respect.gov.uk

Home Office website for practitioners and members of the public working to prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour

Royal National Institute for Deaf People

www.rnid.org.uk

Campaigning for the provision of better services for people who are deaf or hard-of-hearing

Royal National Institute of Blind People

www.rnib.co.uk

UK charity offering support, information and advice for blind or partially sighted people

Statistics Authority

www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk

Homepage of the Statistics Authority

Scope

www.scope.org.uk

Disability organisation focusing on people with cerebral palsy

Scottish Government

www.scotland.gov.uk

Website of the devolved government in Scotland

Stonewall

www.stonewall.org.uk

Organisation campaigning for and promoting equality and justice for lesbians, gay men and bisexual people

Stonewall Housing

www.stonewallhousing.org

Providing housing support, advice and advocacy and campaigning to improve the lives of LGBT people

Tai Pawb

www.taipawb.co.uk

Promoting race equality and social justice in housing in Wales

Terrence Higgins Trust

www.tht.org.uk

UK HIV and sexual health charity

The Gender Trust

www.gendertrust.org.uk

UK’s largest charity helping adults who are transgender, gender dysphoric, transsexual or whose lives are affected by gender identity issues

Tenant Participation Advisory Service

www.tpas.org.uk

National organisation working to promote tenant empowerment

UK Resource Centre For Women

www.ukrc4setwomen.org

Central point of information for industry, research and education, and for women with an interest in science, engineering and

technology careers

UK Statistics Authority

www.statistics.gov.uk

Arms-length non-ministerial government department promoting and safeguarding the quality of official statistics

Welsh Assembly Government

www.wales.gov.uk

Website of the devolved government in Wales

Welsh Women’s Aid

www.welshwomensaid.org

Group campaigning for improved legislative and public policy support for women and children experiencing domestic violence

Women’s Design Service

www.wds.org.uk

Working to ensure the design and use of the built environment reflects the needs and aspirations of women

Women’s National Commission

www.thewnc.org.uk

Umbrella organisation representing women and women’s organisations across the UK
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